STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Pickens County  
G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

AUG 25 2014

\_\_\_\_\_  
Opinion No. 2014-UP-187 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 5/7/2014)  
10-GS-39-0846, 0847

**S.C. Supreme Court**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARK STANLEY PETERS,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001507

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

### QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by finding the trial court properly qualified witness Galloway-Williams as an expert in the field of “counseling children who are victims of sexual abuse and their family members” since she was not qualified to testify as an expert, her opinion about child sex abuse cases in general would not assist the jury, the Court’s reliance on State v. Weaverling was erroneous since it is no longer good law, and the “expert’s” testimony was not reliable?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Procedural History**

Petitioner was indicted by the Pickens County Grand Jury for two counts of committing a lewd act upon a child. R. 239. His case was called to trial on December 13, 2011, before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, and a jury. Thomas Quinn represented petitioner. Jenny Hamaker Barwick represented the state. R. 1.

On December 14, 2011 the jury found petitioner guilty on both counts. R. 237, ll. 3-10. Judge Welmaker sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of one hundred and fifty five months imprisonment. R. 238, ll. 11-15.

The Final Brief of Appellant was filed on October 22, 2013 and the Final Brief of Respondent was filed on October 4, 2013. Oral Argument was heard on March 5, 2014. The Court of Appeals affirmed in State v. Mark Stanley Peters, 2014-UP-187 (filed May 7, 2014). App. 1-3. The Petition for Rehearing was filed on May 22, 2014 and denied on June 13, 2014. App. 4-12.

This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by finding the trial court properly qualified witness Galloway-Williams as an expert in the field of “counseling children who are victims of sexual abuse and their family members” since she was not qualified to testify as an expert, her opinion about child sex abuse cases in general would not assist the jury, the Court’s reliance on State v. Weaverling was erroneous since it is no longer good law, and the “expert’s” testimony was not reliable.

### **Relevant Facts**

Jacqueline Peters had been married to the petitioner for sixteen years. They were separated at the time of trial although they stayed in touch. R. 2, ll. 6-10; R. 105, ll. 1-8.

Mrs. Peters remembered the allegation of petitioner touching the then thirteen or fourteen-year-old Minor #1 in April, 2009. R. 108, ll. 7-20. Minor #1 was best friends with one of their daughters, Gabby Peters, and Minor #1 “called me Mom.” It was common for Minor #1 to spend the night. “She would sleep on the floor, my fourteen-year-old would sleep on the bed. And that happened, nothing out of the sorts [in April, 2009].” R. 108, l. 13 – 109, l. 6.

She stated: “Mark slept downstairs. His office was down there. He went downstairs, I went to the back room, the kids went to bed, everything was fine.” R. 109, ll. 20-23. “In the middle of the night, [Minor #1] came in, calm as calm can be, no tears, no fear, nothing. She said, Mark appeared in the doorway naked and said, would you please come downstairs and have sex with me. And I said, excuse me? And I said stay right here. Don’t move. I went downstairs, and I’m sorry to say, but I did slap him across the face, and I said to him what’s going on? He was fully clothed. He said, I don’t know what you’re talking about. So I told him. And he said, well, I still don’t know what you’re talking about. I said, stay down here.” R. 109, l. 20 – 110, l. 8.

Mrs. Peters remembered:

I went back up and I said, [Minor #1], sweet baby, do you want to go home to Mommy and Daddy. She said, no. Why? She said, I want to stay here with you. And I said, you sure? And she said, yeah. So she got in the bed. And I, you know, consoled her. And I said, you know, if you want to go home, I can take you home. Mark came back upstairs and used my bathroom. I had the master bedroom. And he turned and he said, [Minor #1], would you like me to take you home. And I said, please do not talk to her. Leave her alone. He left the room, went back downstairs. So once again, I said to him - - or said to [Minor #1], baby, do you want me to take you home? She's like, no, I'm fine. I said, okay. So we went to bed. The next morning she woke up, you know, it was Monday morning and I looked at her once again and I said to her, [Minor #1], you don't have to go to school if this bothers you. You do not have to go to school. I will take you home. She was like, well, why? I said, well, because of last night. She proceeded to go into the master bathroom, turn the shower on, got dressed, got in my car, because I brought her to school with my daughter everyday, turned on the radio and my daughter and her sang, and sang and sang, and she went to school. Then the next day after school, the phone rings at four o'clock like it always does, and she said, can I come over? I said, why would you want to come back over? You know, I'm thinking she would be scared. And I said, I don't think it's appropriate. And that's that.

R. 110, l. 8 – 111, l. 10.

Mrs. Peters “treated [Minor #1] like she was my daughter” and strongly asserted that [Minor #1] was not telling the truth when she told the police that she was scared or screamed that night. R. 113, l. 14 – 114, l. 14.

Petitioner and his wife said that the allegations of another neighbor's daughter, Minor #2, arose after petitioner was arrested for committing a lewd act upon Minor #1, and it made the news. Mrs. Peters recalled the night Minor #2 alleged petitioner touched her. Minor #2 woke up crying in the middle of the night, and she said she was scared and wanted to go home. She would not allow Minor #2 to go home “due to the fact that I know her father really well, and he bragged a lot that he slept with a gun. And he said that if anybody ever knocked on the door in the middle of the night,

he would not even look, he would shoot. I'm not sending a child into that situation." R. 114, l. 11 – 116, l. 2.

Mrs. Peters and petitioner both told her: "Baby, you're going to be all right. Go back to sleep." She told the minor: "You go back to sleep and tomorrow we can get up, use the pool, just like a normal day. [She] spent the night, woke up the next day, had cereal, put on a bathing suit and we all went swimming." R. 116, ll. 9-15. She continued:

Ms. Barwick (solicitor): Okay. Shifting gears a little bit. [Minor #1] had never made any accusation like this to you before?

Mrs. Peters: Never.

Ms. Barwick: And [Minor #2] never made an accusation before this either, did she?

Mrs. Peters: Those kids always wanted to be at my house, all the time.

Ms. Barwick: They enjoyed all of their time there, right?

Mrs. Peters: All the time. And they always - - after these allegations were said, they wanted to come back, so . . .

Ms. Barwick: You don't remember saying that [Minor #1] had actually told you that the Defendant touched her vagina?

Mrs. Peters: Never.

Ms. Barwick: Okay. She never told you that?

Mrs. Peters: Never.

Ms. Barwick: You don't remember telling Michelle Gerald from DSS that she told you that?

Mrs. Peters: On my kids' life, she never told me that, because I would have went crazy.

Ms. Barwick: Okay. So I want to be clear. You never told Michelle Gerald that [Minor #1] told you that your husband touched her on her vagina?

Mrs. Peters: No. She told me he stood in the doorway.

R. 117, l. 20 – 118, l. 17.

She acknowledged petitioner was drunk on the night of these allegations, and that petitioner never said he did anything improper with either of the girls. Petitioner later testified that he drank beer every day and while it had an effect on him, he still had his wits about him. R. 126, l. 4 – 127, l. 19.

Fifteen-year-old Minor #1 testified that Gabby Peters was her best friend. Minor #1 said she usually spent the night “every time I went over there.” R. 2, l. 6 – 3, l. 24. Minor #1 went to Florida with petitioner’s family for Thanksgiving and she went to Carowinds with them. She liked to swim at their house. Petitioner’s wife picked her up from school in April of 2009. Gabby lived with petitioner, his wife, and their younger daughter MacKenzie. R. 3, l. 21 – 4, l. 25.

Minor #1 said after they got back from Carowinds in April, 2009, “I spent the night both nights.” Her claim was “when we came back that night we got ready for bed and that’s when I woke up and he was touching me.” R. 5, ll. 1-6.

Earlier in the day “Mark was kind of drunk. He was being real loud and he was wrestling with Gabby and he was - - tried to with me, but he was kind of tickling me and stuff, but I didn’t let him because I didn’t feel very comfortable.” Minor #1 said she went to bed in Gabby’s room and she claimed when she woke up “Mark was touching me” as Gabby was “laying in her bed.” R. 4, l. 10 – 8, l. 21.

She alleged petitioner touched her “on my private area and on my stomach . . . he ran his fingers through my hair and then he just got up and shut the door and walked out . . . I was really scared and I didn’t know what to do so I sat there and prayed. And then he came back and that’s when he was naked . . . he just stood at the doorway.” Minor #1 testified she just turned over and watched the television, and “he asked me what I was watching. And I said, Lockwood Eric. And he was like, laying in the bed with Derek? And I just didn’t say anything. And then he said that I could come downstairs with him and I didn’t answer him.” R. 10, l. 14 – 12, l. 4.

She claimed petitioner was kneeling by her when he touched her, but she said petitioner did not attempt to put his hands under her clothing or move her. R. 30, l. 3 – 31, l. 21.

When she heard the basement door shut where petitioner slept she went to Mrs. Peters’ room. She shook Mrs. Peters to wake her up, and she claimed she told petitioner’s wife: “[M]ark came in there touching me. And then she said that he came in there with her, too.” R. 13, l. 4 – 14, l. 8.

Minor #1 said that Mrs. Peters went in the basement to talk with petitioner and she returned and said she was sorry it happened. Petitioner then came upstairs in his shorts. Petitioner argued with Jacqueline Peters, and he went to use the restroom in the bedroom. She testified: “Jackie got up and slammed the door. And she said, there you go using the bathroom in front of her. And he opened the door back up and used the restroom. And then he came back out and then he told me that he was sorry if he thought anything - - if I thought anything had happened. And he come over there and picked [his younger daughter] up and went downstairs.” R. 15, l. 20 – 18, l. 5.

Minor #1 asserted she tried to go back to sleep that night. She told Mrs. Peters she did not want to go home because she was scared. Mrs. Peters took her to school the next day. She did not tell anyone at school what had happened because “me and Gabby had the same friends and I just

didn't want to bring it up. I'd just rather tell one of my parents than to tell people at school." R. 18, l. 19 – 19, l. 21.

Minor #1 talked to her mother after school on the phone as she did every day when she got home. She told her mother what had occurred. Her mother "called my Dad and told him that he needed to come home and told him a little bit about what happened. And then he said to call the police. So we did." The police arrived and Minor #1 gave them a statement. R. 19, l. 4 – 21, l. 19.

On cross-examination, she said petitioner was drunk that night. She had seen him drunk many times before. However, she admitted she went over to his house frequently. R. 22, l. 8 – 23, l. 19. She went with her mother to see a physician at Easley Pediatrics after the alleged incident. This visit was to help allow her to stay home and be homeschooled from that point. R. 27, l. 17 – 28, l. 19.

Ruth Jones, Minor #1's step-mother, remembered when Minor #1 called her after she got home from school as she did everyday. Jones said "her voice sounded a little crackly and I could tell she was upset about something." Mrs. Jones asked Minor #1 if she got into a fight with Gabby or if Mrs. Peters did something to hurt her feelings. When she asked if it was Mark she began to cry. She maintained that she went immediately. R. 38, l. 7 – 42, l. 16. Once home, she recalled that Minor #1 made her allegation about sexual abuse in Gabby's bedroom, and she called the police. R. 42, l. 11 – 44, l. 4.

Minor #2 was a friend of petitioner's younger daughter. She lived next door to petitioner. R. 48, l. 9 – 49, l. 25.

She was eleven-years-old at the time of trial. In December of 2008 she stayed overnight in the basement at petitioner's house with MacKenzie. R. 49, l. 3 – 51, l. 13. Minor #2 testified that

petitioner, his wife, his other daughter Gabby, and Minor #2's sister, Kaitlyn, all slept at petitioner's house that night. R. 52, ll. 4-16.

Minor #2 claimed that she woke up in the middle of the night and petitioner was touching her "in my private and like on my chest." Minor #2 maintained petitioner touched her over and under her clothing. R. 53, ll. 11-22. She said petitioner ran his hands through her hair, and she estimated the touching happened for probably "like a half hour or so." Minor #2 maintained that she pretended to be asleep the entire time. R. 54, l. 19 – 55, l. 24.

She claimed after petitioner left, she ran upstairs to Gabby's room, and woke her sister. She testified that she was crying at the time, and her sister "asked Mark and Jackie if we could go home." Minor #2 was told they could not go home because it was too dark, and because her parents were probably asleep. R. 56, l. 10 – 58, l. 19.

On cross, Minor #2 denied she told petitioner's wife she had a bad dream. She did not tell anyone at school or her mother and father about the alleged incident. She admitted she did not tell anyone "about this until your dad came and asked you." However, she denied hearing news reports about Minor #1 allegedly being molested. R. 59, l. 6 – 60, l. 25.

Minor #2 did not remember when this incident occurred. She did not remember whether petitioner had been drinking that day. She admitted she did not recall if she told the police petitioner was allegedly breathing hard or rubbing his hands through her hair. R. 63, l. 10 – 65, l. 16.

Shane Gunter, Minor #2's mother, testified petitioner was her next door neighbor. She remembered when he was arrested for the sexual assault of Minor #1. "I looked it up on-line and printed the article out and then read it to each of our four oldest daughters." R. 75, l. 19 – 76, l. 20.

All of her daughters did not react to the news story, but Minor #2, "she kind of teared up, seemed like she was withholding something." Minor #2 started crying "when I read it to her." R.

78, ll. 7-22. She asked Minor #2 “if something like that had been done to her there,” and she then called the Pickens County Police. R. 78, l. 19 – 79, l. 2.

### **The “expert” testimony**

On the second day of trial, the state called Shauna Galloway-Williams as a witness.<sup>1</sup> Williams was the executive director of the Julie Valentine Center, formally the Greenville Rape Crisis and Child Abuse Center. Williams conducted forensic interviews and did “clinical work” there. R. 136, ll. 3-24.

Williams admitted that a forensic interview was not performed in this case. She had never met either alleged victim. R. 137, ll. 1-13.

She had a Bachelor’s in psychology and a Master’s in counseling. Her training focused on forensic interviews with “ties to sexual and child abuse.” On cross, she admitted attending a seminar in 2008 put on by the National College of District Attorneys: “Child Abuse Summit, Working Together to Improve Child Abuse Prosecutions.” R. 137, l. 11 – 138, l. 9; R. 156, l. 21 – 157, l. 8.

Williams had testified in criminal court eleven times and family court thirty times. The solicitor asked the judge to qualify her as an expert “in the field of counseling children who are victims of sexual abuse and their family members.” R. 138, ll. 16-22.

Defense Counsel Quinn objected to her qualifications, and he said wanted to *voir dire* the witness. Counsel then asked Williams if she had ever been qualified in a case where she did not meet with the children or parties. Williams responded: “At least one other time in General Sessions.” R. 138, l. 20 – 139, l. 10. Defense counsel stated his objections:

---

<sup>1</sup> For ease of reference, Shauna Galloway-Williams is referred to as Williams.

I do not believe she's qualified to testify in this case, because she's not able to assist this jury with any question before them, as she has not met any of the people involved in the case. And as I believe the standard for a juror - - I'm sorry, for an expert, **they may testify to scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge that will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine the fact at issue. She is not aware of any of the evidence in the case or any of the facts in issue.**

R. 139, ll. 14-23. (emphasis added).

That is, in substance, an objection to the reliability of her "scientific or technical" testimony.

The Court of Appeals should not have found it procedurally barred as to reliability. App. 3, n. 1.

The solicitor said Williams could assist the jury in understanding why children delay in disclosing or make partial or accidental disclosures. R. 140, ll. 1-7. The judge ruled that, based upon her education and experience, she was qualified as a witness and that the subject matter was beyond the ordinary knowledge of a juror and he "believed" her testimony would be reliable. R. 140, ll. 8-21.

Williams then testified in the presence of the jury that the vast majority of children do not disclose sexual abuse after it happens. "The statistics say about **eighty percent** of children don't tell right after something has happened . . . but the main reason . . . **is fear.**" R. 141, l. 7 – 142, l. 25.

(emphasis added). Williams said:

Ms. Barwick: In your experience, is it common or uncommon for children to be sexually abused by somebody they know and trust?

Williams: Yeah. It's very common, more likely than not, about **eighty percent** of the time, children are being abused by someone they know, they love and they trust.

R. 149, ll. 18-23. (emphasis added).

Asked whether children fear "things like people at school finding out?" She said that "children fear that other people are going to find out what happened." "Accidental disclosure

means that children give out pieces of what occurred, and “we don’t expect that when they finally do tell, that we’re going to get all the details on all the specifics right away.” R. 143, l. 22 – 146, l. 10.

When the perpetrator was part of the child’s life this went “back to the relationship dynamics.” R. 148, ll. 10-13. Her organization recommended that there be no contact between the child and the person they accused of abuse. R. 148, l. 24 – 149, l. 17.

Williams told the jury that children were not “sophisticated liars.” She added that some children are “groomed” for sexual abuse and that grooming can start by touching, tickling children, “and getting close to the private area . . . as sort of testing the waters to see how close they can get to that . . . how that child’s going to respond. R. 151, l. 19 – 153, l. 12. Williams claimed that her figures showing eighty percent of children do not initially disclose abuse that occurred were “**substantiated cases of abuse.**” R. 154, l. 7 – 155, l. 9. (emphasis added)

Petitioner took the stand in his own defense. He denied improperly touching either alleged victim. He testified that Minor #1 enjoyed spending time at his house, with his children, more than she did being home. Minor #1 had told them “she did not have a good home life” and that she would rather be over at his house cooking out and playing in the pool. R. 168, ll. 2-19.

Petitioner recalled that the Gunter’s later moved in next door to him. MacKenzie, his younger daughter, and Minor #2 played together almost daily. R. 169, ll. 1-24. Petitioner said the alleged incident with Minor #2 occurred when his wife told him that Minor #2 had a bad dream, and that she was scared. Petitioner said he was not accused at the time of doing anything to Minor #2. R. 169, l. 22 – 170, l. 23.

On cross, petitioner said he treated the children the same way he treated his own daughters. R. 175, l. 23 – 176, l. 23. He did not remember his wife slapping him after Minor #1’s allegation.

He did recall telling his wife that he did absolutely nothing to Minor #1. R. 178, l. 21 – 180, l. 15. Petitioner admitted he had argued with his wife over the allegation that he had gone upstairs without his clothes on. R. 181, ll. 2-14.

Petitioner told the solicitor his wife would not lie for him. He had not done anything improper in his treatment of either child. R. 184, l. 10 – 189, l. 1.

The Court of Appeals wrote, (App. 2-3):

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