STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Pickens County
Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001507

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MARK STANLEY PETERS,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
SEP 15 2014
S.C. Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

To the extent Peters is challenging the reliability or subject matter of the expert's testimony, that argument was not properly preserved for appellate review because it was never raised to the trial judge. Moreover, the Court of Appeals' determination the reliability argument was not preserved for appellate review is the law of the case because it was not challenged by Peters in his petition for rehearing. However, regardless of any issue preservation concerns, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's decision to qualify Galloway-Williams as an expert and permit her to testify in regard to the common behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse because she was qualified to testify on that subject based on her education, knowledge, training, and experience and because her testimony was beyond the common knowledge of the typical juror, could have assisted the jury in understanding the evidence presented during trial, and met a threshold level of reliability.

Peters contends the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge's decision to qualify Galloway-Williams as an expert and permit her to testify in regard to the common behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse. In support of that contention, Peters maintains Galloway-Williams should not have been qualified as an expert because she did not personally meet with or interview the victims or other parties involved with his case and because the subject matter of her expert testimony was allegedly not reliable. Initially, to the extent Peters is challenging the reliability or subject matter of Galloway-Williams' expert testimony, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that argument was not properly preserved for appellate review because it was never raised to the trial judge. Moreover, Peters is now precluded from raising that argument on certiorari because he did not challenge the Court of Appeals' finding the argument was unpreserved in his petition for hearing. However, even if that argument was somehow properly preserved for appellate review, the Court of Appeals' correctly affirmed the trial judge's admission of Galloway-Williams' expert testimony because she possessed expert qualifications based on her education, knowledge, training, and experience regardless of whether she met with or interviewed

the victims or other parties involved in Peters' case and her testimony regarding the common behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse was sufficiently reliable to warrant its admission. For those reasons, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in qualifying Galloway-Williams as an expert and admitting her testimony, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge's ruling. Peters' petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

A. Correctness of the Court of Appeals' Issue Preservation Finding and Applicability of the Law of the Case Doctrine

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). If a party does not properly raise an issue during trial in accordance with those issue preservation requirements, that party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal. State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

Similarly, if a ruling or decision is not challenged or appealed, an objection to the ruling or decision is waived, and the ruling or decision becomes the law of the case. See State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding unchallenged and unappealed rulings are the law of the case). Significantly, the law of the case doctrine is applicable to issues raised on appeal, and a ruling or decision of the Court of Appeals becomes the law of the case if it is not challenged in both a petition for rehearing submitted to the Court of Appeals and in a petition for a writ of certiorari submitted to the Supreme Court. See Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR ("Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the

petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court.”); cf. Moseley v. All Things Possible, Inc., 395 S.C. 492, 495, n. 4, 719 S.E.2d 656, 658 (2011) (“That finding [of the Court of Appeals] is the law of the case, for the Moseleys did not seek certiorari on that issue.”); South Carolina Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 393 S.C. 387, 393, 712 S.E.2d 452, 456 (2011) (“Because these rulings [of the Court of Appeals] have not been challenged, they are the law of the case.”).

In the case sub judice, Peters contends on certiorari the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge’s qualification of Galloway-Williams as an expert because the subject matter of her expert testimony was not based on scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge and was not sufficiently reliable. However, just as the Court of Appeals found, Peters did not raise such a contention to the trial judge. Instead, during trial, Peters simply contended Galloway-Williams was not **personally** qualified to testify as an expert because she had not met with any of the people involved in the case and was not aware of any evidence or facts in the case.⁷ Significantly, because Peters did not challenge the subject matter or reliability of Galloway-Williams’ testimony during trial, Peters was precluded from doing so for the first time on appeal. See, e.g., State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (holding a party cannot argue one ground in support of a motion during trial and then another ground in support of the motion on appeal). For that reason, the Court of Appeals correctly found Peters’ appellate argument in regard to the subject matter and reliability of the expert testimony was not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997)

⁷ Specifically, defense counsel argued: “I do not believe she’s qualified to testify in this case, because she’s not able to assist this jury with any question before them, as she has not met any of the people involved in the case. And as I believe the standard for a juror – I’m sorry, for an expert, they may testify as to scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge that will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine the fact at issue. She is not aware of any of the evidence in the case or any of the facts in issue.” (R. pp. 138-139).

(“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); see also I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000) (“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and **arguments.**” (emphasis added)).

Now, on certiorari, Peters appears to be contending the Court of Appeals erred in finding his argument regarding the subject matter and reliability of the expert’s testimony was not preserved for appellate review. Significantly though, Peters did not challenge the Court of Appeals’ issue preservation ruling in any manner in his petition for rehearing submitted to that court. (App’x pp. 4-10). Accordingly, notwithstanding the fact the Court of Appeals’ issue preservation ruling was correct, that ruling – even if it was wrong – is the law of the case and cannot properly be challenged on certiorari. See State v. Barroso, 328 S.C. 268, 271, 493 S.E.2d 854, 855 (1997) (“This holding [of the Court of Appeals] was not challenged by the State, and therefore is the law of the case.”). Peters’ petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

B. Propriety of the Qualification of Galloway-Williams as an Expert

“Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). “Expert testimony differs from lay testimony in that an expert witness is permitted to state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge or may base his opinion on information made available before the hearing so long as it is the type of information that is reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions.” Id. at 445-446, 699 S.E.2d at 175. “The

qualification of a witness as an expert falls largely within the discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Myer, 301 S.C. 251, 255, 391 S.E.2d 551, 554 (1990).

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. Before admitting expert testimony, the trial judge must find: (1) the expert’s testimony will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert has the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education; and (3) the testimony is reliable. State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 514, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011); see also State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 572, 541 S.E.2d 813, 819 (2001) (“Scientific evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, if the trial judge determines: (1) the evidence will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert witness is qualified; (3) the underlying science is reliable, applying the factors found in State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.2d 120 (1979); and (4) the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.”).

A witness can properly be qualified as an expert where “the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury’s good judgment and common knowledge.” State v. Henry, 329 S.C. 266, 273, 495 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 1998). In determining whether a witness’ knowledge, skill, training, or experience qualifies the witness as an expert, no mandatory set of qualifications is required. Henry, 329 S.C. at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 467. Instead, an expert can become sufficiently qualified to be able to provide

an opinion helpful to the trier of fact in many ways. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008). “[D]efects in the amounts and quality of the expert’s education or experience go to the weight to be accorded the expert’s testimony and not to its admissibility.” Henry, 329 S.C. at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 467.

In addition to ensuring the expert is qualified, the trial judge must also ensure the testimony “meets a threshold level of reliability, regardless of whether it is scientific or nonscientific.” State v. Tapp, 387 S.C. 159, 165, 691 S.E.2d 165, 168 (Ct. App. 2010). In cases involving scientific expert testimony, the trial court should consider the following factors: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 19, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517 (1999). However, in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony, the factors applied in an analysis of scientific evidence cannot readily be applied. See State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 688 (2009) (“The foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach, for the Council factors for scientific evidence serve no useful analytical purpose when evaluating nonscientific expert testimony.”). Accordingly, no formulaic approach can or must be applied to determine reliability in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony. Id.

In the case at bar, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s qualification of Galloway-Williams as an expert witness in light of her education, knowledge, training, and experience in regard to the common behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse. Based on that education, knowledge,

training, and experience, Galloway-Williams was qualified and able to testify before jury in regard to an area of expertise that was beyond the common knowledge of the typical juror and was critical for the jurors to be able to evaluate and understand the behavior exhibited by the victims prior to their disclosures of the sexual abuse.

Critically, in cases such as Peters' case where there are allegations of juvenile sexual abuse, "[e]xpert testimony concerning child abuse typically comes from two sources: medical evidence provided by physicians and **behavioral science evidence** provided by psychiatrists, psychologists, and social workers." State v. Morgan, 326 S.C. 503, 508, 485 S.E.2d 112, 115 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added), overruled on other grounds by State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). Significantly, in South Carolina, our appellate courts have consistently recognized "[e]xpert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts is admissible." State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999).

"Such testimony is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault." Id. at 475, 523 S.E.2d at 794; see State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 415, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004) ("The purpose of rape trauma evidence is to prove the elements of criminal sexual conduct since such evidence may make it more or less probable the offense occurred."). Rape trauma and behavioral characteristic evidence is often crucial in child sexual abuse cases because "[t]he inexperience and impressionability of children often render them unable to effectively articulate the events giving rise to criminal sexual behavior." White, 361 S.C. at 414-415, 605 S.E.2d at 544. Furthermore, rape trauma and behavioral characteristic evidence is also particularly important to explain the often unusual behavior exhibited by victims

of sexual abuse that might be beyond the knowledge of the average juror. See Weaverling, 337 S.C. at 475, 523 S.E.2d at 794 (“It assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of the behavior of victims and provides insight into the sexually abused child’s often strange demeanor.”); see also People v. Carroll, 95 N.Y.2d 375, 387, 740 N.E.2d 1084, ___ (N.Y. 2000) (“We have long held that expert testimony regarding rape trauma syndrome, abused child syndrome or similar conditions may be admitted to explain behavior of a victim that might appear unusual or that jurors may not be expected to understand[.]”); see generally United States v. Lukashov, 694 F.3d 1107, 1117 (9th Cir. 2012) (“[The expert witness’] testimony was helpful to the jury because some jurors would not have a general understanding of an eight-year-old’s sexual knowledge and vocabulary and the level of sensory detail to look for in a child’s allegations of sexual abuse.”); People v. Baenziger, 97 P.3d 271, 275 (Colo. Ct. App. 2004) (“Because the ‘lay notion of what behavior logically follows the experience of being raped may not be consistent with the actual behavior or which social scientists have observed from studying rape victims,’ expert testimony explaining these reactions is helpful to the jury in determining whether this delay should support the conclusion that the sexual assault did not occur.’ ” (citations omitted)). Accordingly, as this Court has recognized, “both expert testimony and behavioral evidence are admissible as rape trauma evidence to prove a sexual offense occurred where the probative value of such evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.” State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 506, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993).

In Peters’ case, Galloway-Williams had specialized knowledge regarding the common behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse based on her education, knowledge, training, and experience. Specifically, Galloway-Williams had an educational background in psychology and counseling, had over one-hundred

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